
 

 
 

 

 

AGENDA 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Regular Meeting 

Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Conference 

Room C – Administrative Offices 

Monday, January 11, 2016 

9:00 a.m. 

 

* NOTE TO ALL PUBLIC ATTENDEES: 

 

The public may speak on any item on the agenda. There are request cards located 

outside the public seating area.  These cards must be completed and presented to the 

Recording Secretary prior to the item being heard. Your comments will be addressed 

prior to the Airport Commission’s discussion and you will have 5 minutes to address the 

Airport Commission. Thank you for your attention. 

 

I . CALL TO ORDER: 

 

I I . CONSENT AGENDA: 

 

A. Approval of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission November 20, 

2015 Regular Meeting Minutes (document). 
 

I I I . PRESENTATIONS: 

 

A. Business Development & Marketing Update (document). 

 

IV. OLD BUSINESS: None. 

V. NEW BUSINESS: None 

 

VI . PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT: 

 

A. Aviation Industry Update. 

B. Air Service Development Update. 

C. Construction Tour. 

 

  



 

 

GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION AGENDA 

Monday, January 11, 2016 

Page 2 

 

 

 

VI I . INFORMATION SECTION: 
(Staff presentations will not be made on these items. Staff will be available to address any 

questions the Commission may have.) 

 

A. November 2015 – Traffic Report (document). 

B. November 2015 – Financial Report (document). 

C. December 2015 – Development/Project Status Report (document). 

D. December 2015 – Communications Status Report (document). 

E. December 2015 – Properties and Development Report (document). 

F. December 2015 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report (document). 

G. Industry Presentation(s)/Article(s) of Interest (document). 

H. Potential I tems for the Next Regular Scheduled Commission Meeting: 

 

• Community Engagement/SEC-AAAE Conference Update 

 

VI I I . COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS: 

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

The Airport Commission may hold an Executive Session for the purpose of 

receiving legal advice on various matters. 

 

X. ADJOURNMENT. 

 

This agenda of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission is provided as a 
matter of convenience to the public. I t is not the official agenda. Although every 

effort is made to provide complete and accurate information to this agenda, The 
Airport Commission does not warrant or guarantee its accuracy or completeness for 

any purpose. The agenda is subject to change before or at the Airport Commission 
meeting. 



 
 

 
 

 GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION  

MINUTES 

NOVEMBER 20, 2015 

 

The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission met on November 20, 2015 at 9:00 a.m. in the 

Greenville-Spartanburg District Office Conference Room C located at 2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1, 

Greer, South Carolina 29651.  The public and media were given proper notice of this meeting, 

under applicable law.  This was a regular, non-emergency meeting. 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Minor Shaw, Leland Burch, and Bill Barnet.  Hank Ramella via 

conference call. 

MEMBERS NOT PRESENT: Valerie Miller and Doug Smith. 

STAFF AND LEGAL COUNSEL PRESENT:   David Edwards, President/CEO; Kevin Howell, Vice 

President/COO; Jack Murrin, Vice President Administration and Finance/CFO; Rosylin Weston, 

Vice President Communications; Marsha Madore, Director of Human Resources;  Betty O. 

Temple, WCSR; and Tina Honeycutt, Executive Assistant/Recording Secretary. 

GUESTS PRESENT:   Alan Robinson, Cherry Bekaert;  Alex Chambers, Spartanburg High School. 

CALL TO ORDER:   Chair Minor Shaw called the meeting to order at 9:05 a.m. 

CONSENT AGENDA:   

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimous vote received to approve the regular meeting 

minutes from the September 14, 2015 Commission Meeting. 

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimous vote received to accept the minutes approved 

by the Audit Committee. 

 

PRESENTATIONS: 

A.  Human Resources Presentation 

Ms. Marsha Madore, Director of Human Resources presented a brief presentation 

highlighting the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District Human Resources Department and 

their overall responsibilities.  The presentation addressed five areas that are accomplished 

on a daily basis;  Recruitment, Benefits, Compensation, Employee Relations and Training.  

Chair Shaw thanked Ms. Madore for her presentation and the work performed by the 

Human Resources Department.  



 
 

 
 

OLD BUSINESS:   None 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  

A.  Acceptance of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District Financial Audit and 

Schedules of Expenditures of Federal Awards as of and for Fiscal Years Ended 

June 30, 2015 and 2014, and Report of Independent Auditor. 

Mr. Robinson of Cherry Bekaert stated that a detailed audit presentation was presented to 

the Audit Committee in October.  The audit was clean, unmodified, with no exceptions, 

qualifications, or surprises.  The audit was completed and delivered on time and on 

schedule with no adjustments or changes to the accounting records.  Mr. Robinson also 

reported that this year there is a new accounting rule requiring Governments, Districts and 

the like to record the State of South Carolina proportionate share of the unfunded pension 

liability.  The State of South Carolina has a ten (10) billion dollar unfunded pension liability.  

The proportionate share for Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District was approximately nine 

(9) million dollars that has to be included as a journal entry but it is a non-cash liability.       

Mr. Barnet, Chair of the Audit Committee stated Mr. Robinson and Mr. Murrin have done a 

great job with a clean process.  Mr. Burch made a motion to approve; Mr. Ramella seconded 

and unanimous vote was received to accept the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 

Financial Audit and Schedules of Expenditures of Federal Awards as of and for Fiscal Years 

Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 approved by the Audit Committee. 

 

PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT:  

A.  Mr. Edwards reported that the aviation industry is healthy and strong.  Airlines are 

making record profits and growth and expansion of route networks are being seen 

around the country.   

B.  Mr. Edwards stated that Congress has approved a two year federal budget.  Mr. 

Edwards anticipates that FAA re-authorization will be addressed after the new year. I t  

has been re-authorized for the six months which reaches out to March 2016.  I t is 

expected that it will be approved for a full Federal fiscal year through 2016 and there is 

the possibility of a two year approval in order to get past the election cycle. 

C.  Southwest changes that were announced a few weeks ago and the loss of certain non-

stop destinations from Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport is a concern within 

the community.  A positive attribute of the change is that Southwest will offer three 

flights out of Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport to Atlanta which may resonate 

better with the business traveler.  Fifty percent (50% ) of Southwest passengers are 

going beyond the destination Southwest flies nonstop today.  Those passengers will now 

be connecting through Atlanta versus other locations.  Other carriers may increase 



 
 

 
 

capacity to destinations as a result to continue to service origin and destination 

customers.  There will also most likely be a competit ive fare response from Delta which 

will result in lower fares for the consumer.  Approximately twenty airports were affected 

by the Southwest schedule change.  I f the model change is more successful for 

Southwest and resonates well with the business community it will be a positive for 

Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport.   

D. Mr. Edwards and Staff attended the National Business Aviation Association (NBAA) 

Conference and Exhibition in Las Vegas, NV.  Greenville-Spartanburg International 

Airport had a booth and marketed our airport properties to aviation aerospace 

companies.  NBAA also provided an opportunity for conversations and meetings with 

fuel providers, fuel truck providers and helped to identify FBO software opportunities as 

we are working toward our 2016 FBO operations.  The conference also resulted in 

several leads for land development at Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport.   

Chair Shaw stated she would like Staff to communicate to the flying public from Greenville-

Spartanburg International Airport the additional routes that Southwest will offer from Atlanta 

that may provide more destinations to travelers.  Informing the community of the Atlanta flight 

routes could be beneficial.  Mr. Edwards commented that the change also opens up southeast 

destinations that previously were not available with Southwest.   

Chair Shaw asked Mr. Edwards to provide an update on the Terminal Improvement Project.  Mr. 

Edwards stated the project is progressing at a consistent pace.  TSA has delivered the baggage 

handling x-ray devices which is a good milestone for the project.  There will be a major move in 

the spring with airlines relocating to permanent counters, the opening of the new outbound 

baggage system, and the TSA checkpoint.  Completion of the concessions and Grand Hall area 

will follow. 

 

COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS:  
 

Mr. Leland Burch reported that he has agreed to Chair the ACI-NA Commissioners Committee.  

A topic of interest noted at the meeting in Long Beach, CA was that noise issues are becoming 

a concern among communities with FAA implementing next generation practices.  The FAA is 

realigning the way airlines enter and exit the airport to save fuel and make operations better.  

Mr. Edwards commented that Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport has not been 

impacted by the FAA flight pattern changes as much as other airports.   

 

Mr. Burch also stated that he attended a presentation on beacon technology which allows 

passengers to use an application to provide area maps and notification when luggage is 

available which is becoming popular with larger airports.  Mr. Edwards replied that Greenville-

Spartanburg International Airport will be implementing beacon technology through the Thanks 

Again Program and will then work to transition such technology into an airport wide program.  

I t is an opt-in application that will connect customers to a beacon, which then pushes 

information to their personal devices.   

 



 
 

 
 

Chair Shaw congratulated Mr. Burch on becoming Chairman of the ACI -NA Commissioners 

Committee. 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

There being no further business, a motion was made, seconded, and carried to go into 

Executive Session.  The specific purpose of the executive session was announced as to receive 

legal advice regarding a lawsuit filed by iStar Tara, LLC as lender, against  Stevens Aviation, a 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (“GSP”) tenant and related matters.  GSP was included 
as a “nominal” defendant by virtue of its ownership of the property underlying the leasehold 
interest.   

ADJOURNMENT: 

At approximately 11:25 a.m. public session resumed with no action being taken.  The meeting 

was adjourned at 11:26 a.m. 

 

SIGNATURE OF PREPARER: 

 

______________________________________ 

Tina Honeycutt 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Properties 

 

DATE: January 11, 2016 

 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – Presentation I tem A 
 
Business Development & Marketing Update 

 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
An informational overview of the business development and marketing programs that 

are being rolled out in 2016 will be presented. 

 

This includes a new business community partnership program, new ground 

transportation and parking options, air service development leakage and retention 

programs, and concession revenue enhancement initatives.   

 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 

 

DATE: January 11, 2016 

 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem A 
 
November 2015 - Traffic Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 

For November 2015 passenger traffic was up 7.6%  over the same month in 2014. 

Cargo traffic was down 4.2%  for November 2015 over November 2014.  Overall load 

factors continue to be strong with an overall average of 82.6% .   

 

A comparison of the North America National Passenger Traffic Growth Averages for 

2015 to GSP’s 2015 Passenger Traffic Growth is depicted below: 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspaiport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem A 

November 2015 - Traffic Report 

Page 2 

  

Attached are copies of the detailed traffic report for November 2015. 

 

Providing a look forward into the service levels for February 2016 is a schedule 

comparison for the month vs the same month last year including flights and seats by 

airline and non-stop markets served.  While there were minor adjustments to flight 

operations, there continues to a positive up-tick in flights and seat capacity.  As such 

flights are up 4.4%  and seats are up at 7.5% . 

 

 

 
 

 



Nov 2015 Nov 2014
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2015 *CYTD-2014
Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2015 *MOV12-2014
Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
November 2015

Passenger Traffic

Enplaned

Deplaned

85,623

84,942

78,958

79,506

893,665 877,230

887,476 866,089

8.4%

6.8%

Total 170,565 158,464 7.6% 1,781,141 1,743,319

1.9%

2.5%

2.2%

972,000

963,086

958,063

943,719

1,935,086 1,901,782 1.8%

1.5%

2.1%

Cargo Traffic (Pounds)

Express and Mail

Freight

Total

1,480

505

2,260,222

2,188,176

2,917

2,539

2,565,165

2,074,003

Enplaned

Deplaned

Enplaned

Deplaned

Subtotal

Subtotal

-49.3%

-80.1%

-11.9%

5.5%

4,448,398 4,639,168 -4.1%

1,985 5,456 -63.6%

4,450,383 4,644,624 -4.2%

24,465

18,390

29,069,000

24,919,929

1,442,971

989,176

28,767,815

23,774,555

29,270

32,762

32,801,315

27,542,267

1,446,227

992,649

31,633,458

26,020,286

-98.0%

-96.7%

3.7%

5.8%

4.7%

-97.5%

0.5%

-98.3%

-98.1%

1.0%

4.8%

2.8%

-98.2%

-1.7%

53,988,929 52,542,370

42,855 2,432,147

54,031,832 54,974,517

60,343,582 57,653,744

62,032 2,438,876

60,405,662 60,092,620

Tuesday, December 15, 2015

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 1 of 2



Nov 2015 Nov 2014
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2015 *CYTD-2014
Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2015 *MOV12-2014
Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
November 2015

Aircraft Operations

Airlines

Commuter
/Air Taxi

Subtotal

General
Aviation

Military

Subtotal

1,160 1,068

702

1,819 1,942

786

102 113

2,979

Total

3,010

804 899

3,783 3,909

8.6%

-6.3%

-1.0%

-10.7%

-9.7%

-10.6%

-3.2%

12,132

18,447

1,221

10,567

21,109

889

11,561

23,086

955

13,186

20,282

1,263

14.8%

-12.6%

-3.5%

1.3%

37.3%

4.8%

-1.6%

14.1%

-12.1%

-3.4%

1.4%

32.3%

4.4%

-1.7%

30,579 31,676 33,468 34,647

8,450 8,342 9,136 9,007

9,671 9,231

40,250 40,907

10,399 9,962

43,867 44,609

Fuel Gallons

100LL

Jet A (GA)

Subtotal

Jet A (A/L)

Total

61,113

2,528

928,418

67,708

3,835

830,449

641,880

35,857

8,893,043

633,912

40,529

8,776,898

706,787

39,075

9,956,068

695,670

43,238

9,777,259

63,641 71,543 -11.0% 0.5% 0.9%677,737 674,441 745,862 738,908

992,059 901,992 10.0% 1.3% 1.8%9,570,780 9,451,339 10,701,930 10,516,167

-34.1%

-9.7%

-11.5%

1.3%

-9.6%

1.6%

11.8% 1.3% 1.8%

Tuesday, December 15, 2015

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 2 of 2



Scheduled Airline Enplanements, Seats, and 
Load Factors
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
November 2015

Nov 2015 Nov 2014
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2015 *CYTD-2014
Percentage

Change

7,741

6,545

7,978

Allegiant Air

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

1.5%

-3.0%

85.8% 82.0% 4.6%

64,312

77,645

71,101

81,166

82.8% 87.6%

-9.5%

-4.3%

-5.4%

6,644

5,394

4,867

6,602

American Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

-5.2%

-18.3%

85.5% 73.7% 16.0%

50,417

59,041

43,848

48,994

85.4% 89.5%

15.0%

20.5%

-4.6%

4,614

34,757

27,300

32,424

Delta Air Lines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

12.9%

7.2%

88.7% 84.2% 5.4%

321,421

367,060

299,611

346,582

87.6% 86.4%

7.3%

5.9%

1.3%

30,832

19,312

12,233

16,826

Southwest Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

9.2%

14.8%

69.1% 72.7% -4.9%

132,244

187,717

148,806

200,257

70.4% 74.3%

-11.1%

-6.3%

-5.2%

13,353

Tuesday, December 15, 2015 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Nov 2015 Nov 2014
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2015 *CYTD-2014
Percentage

Change

16,213

12,195

14,900

United Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

12.6%

8.8%

84.7% 81.8% 3.5%

135,446

160,315

129,615

155,966

84.5% 83.1%

4.5%

2.8%

1.7%

13,728

19,835

15,607

19,172

US Airways

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

3.1%

3.5%

81.1% 81.4% -0.3%

183,787

222,038

182,269

209,133

82.8% 87.2%

0.8%

6.2%

-5.0%

16,094

85,265

103,252

78,747

97,902

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

8.3%

5.5%

82.6% 80.4% 2.7%

Totals

887,627

1,073,816

875,250

1,042,098

1.4%

3.0%

82.7% 84.0% -1.6%

Tuesday, December 15, 2015 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Monthly Enplanements By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

E
n
p
la

n
e
m

e
n
ts

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

80000

90000

100000

2013 ‐ 63985 ‐ 62384 ‐ 77089 ‐ 76724 ‐ 85182 ‐ 85239 ‐ 84124 ‐ 80271 ‐ 78992 ‐ 86117 ‐ 76827 ‐ 80833

2014 ‐ 65785 ‐ 60862 ‐ 77715 ‐ 81592 ‐ 87611 ‐ 88079 ‐ 86553 ‐ 82866 ‐ 81045 ‐ 86164 ‐ 78958 ‐ 78335

2015 ‐ 67179 ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank)

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



Monthly Seats By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

S
e
a
ts

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

2013 ‐ 97356 ‐ 91291 ‐ 101741 ‐ 101609 ‐ 109279 ‐ 105334 ‐ 108837 ‐ 106408 ‐ 105415 ‐ 108888 ‐ 97388 ‐ 96755

2014 ‐ 88767 ‐ 77296 ‐ 94490 ‐ 96811 ‐ 100079 ‐ 98831 ‐ 97012 ‐ 96356 ‐ 95579 ‐ 101779 ‐ 98226 ‐ 92951

2015 ‐ 91860 ‐ 81527 ‐ 88868 ‐ 96494 ‐ 98516 ‐ 100519 ‐ 102048 ‐ 102920 ‐ 104568 ‐ 111284 ‐ 103747 ‐ (Blank)

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



Monthly Load Factors By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

L
o
a
d
 F

a
c
to

r

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2013 ‐ 65.72% ‐ 68.34% ‐ 75.77% ‐ 75.51% ‐ 77.95% ‐ 80.92% ‐ 77.29% ‐ 75.44% ‐ 74.93% ‐ 79.09% ‐ 78.89% ‐ 83.54%

2014 ‐ 74.11% ‐ 78.74% ‐ 82.25% ‐ 84.28% ‐ 87.54% ‐ 89.12% ‐ 89.22% ‐ 86.00% ‐ 84.79% ‐ 84.66% ‐ 80.38% ‐ 84.28%

2015 ‐ 73.13% ‐ 74.08% ‐ 83.89% ‐ 84.55% ‐ 87.67% ‐ 86.69% ‐ 87.00% ‐ 83.04% ‐ 79.51% ‐ 83.95% ‐ 82.53% ‐ (Blank)

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



Total Monthly Passengers By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

T
o
ta

l 
P

a
s
s
e
n
g
e
rs

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

160000

180000

200000

2013 ‐ 126751 ‐ 124741 ‐ 153094 ‐ 153880 ‐ 168776 ‐ 167852 ‐ 166886 ‐ 162617 ‐ 155888 ‐ 174231 ‐ 153645 ‐ 158463

2014 ‐ 131247 ‐ 119566 ‐ 154266 ‐ 161560 ‐ 174351 ‐ 173563 ‐ 172021 ‐ 166860 ‐ 160020 ‐ 171401 ‐ 158464 ‐ 153945

2015 ‐ 133961 ‐ 120469 ‐ 146714 ‐ 163861 ‐ 169796 ‐ 172977 ‐ 178967 ‐ 171614 ‐ 165873 ‐ 186344 ‐ 170565 ‐ (Blank)

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



Scheduled Airline Market Shares (Enplanements)
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
Report Period From November 2015 Through November 2015

8%
5%

36%

16%

16%

19%

Allegiant Air

American Airlines

Delta Air Lines

Southwest Airlines

United Airlines

US Airways

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



Airline Flight Completions
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
November 2015

Airline

Scheduled
Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Aeronaves 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Air Cargo Carriers 0 0 0 0 0 #Div/0!0

Allegiant Air 49 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Alliance Air Charter 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

American Airlines 78 0 1 0 0 98.7%1

Ameristar Jet Charter 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Berry Aviation 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



Airline

Scheduled
Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Delta Air Lines 373 0 0 1 0 100.0%1

Eastern Airlines 3 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Federal Express 38 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

IFL Group 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Kolo Canyons Air Service 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

M2 Aircraft Management 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

PAK West Airlines 1 0 0 0 0 0.0%0

Priority Air Charter 5 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Republic Airlines 5 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



Airline

Scheduled
Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Royal Air Freight 5 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Southwest Airlines 136 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

TSM 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

United Airlines 324 0 0 3 0 99.1%3

UPS 29 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

US Airways 396 0 6 4 0 98.7%10

WIGGINS AIRWAYS 10 0 0 0 100.0%

Total 0 7 8 01,463 15 99.0%

Tuesday, December 15, 2015



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Jack G. Murrin, VP of Administration & Finance/CFO 

 

DATE: January 11, 2016 

 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem B 
 
November 2015 - Monthly Financial Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 

Operating Income was up by 5.32%  when compared to the budget for Year-to-Date 

November 2015.  Operating Expenses were down by 17.95%  over the budgeted 

amount for the period.  Net operating income was up 40.04%  versus the budget 

through November 2015.  For the period ending November 2015, which represents five 

months of the fiscal year, a total of about $6.38 million has been returned to the 

bottom line in operating income. 

 

Attached is a copy of the detailed financial report for November 2015. 

 

Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents five 

months of activity resulting in variances from budget which can be quite volatile. 

 

 



November 30, 2015 FINANCIAL STATEMENT PACKAGE



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Current Month Current Month

Current FY Prior FY

11/30/2015 11/30/2014

Assets
Cash Accounts 3,458,787.60                    12,605,758.00                  

Investments-Airport 31,447,203.87                  36,292,107.46                  

Bond Trustee Assets 198,123.85                       196,089.90                       

Accounts Receivable 416,952.22                       583,283.78                       

Less:  Reserve for Doubtful Accts -                                  

Net Accounts Receivable 416,952.22                    583,283.78                     

Inventory 146,921.04                       171,452.31                       

Prepaid Insurance 198,582.49                       206,533.81                       

Notes Receivable-RAC District Funds 1,943,734.66                    2,154,686.66                    

Property, Plant & Equipment (PP&E) 319,991,822.32                285,707,759.66                 

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation (120,877,768.08)               (110,679,939.49)               

Net PP&E 199,114,054.24             175,027,820.17             
TOTAL ASSETS 236,924,359.97             227,237,732.09             

LESS: Liabilities
Accounts Payable 1,230,455.26                    917,381.04                       

Revenue Bonds Payable 2,344,787.12                    2,648,170.62                    

SCRS Pension Liability 9,311,330.00                    7,118,066.00                    

Benefit Liability 803,234.13                       802,241.18                       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 13,689,806.51               11,485,858.84               

LESS: Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Revenues 1,943,734.66                    2,154,686.66                    

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,943,734.66                 2,154,686.66                  

NET POSITION
Invested in Capital Assets, net of Related Debt 196,834,054.24                165,334,754.17                 

Restricted:

A/P - Capital Projects - Restricted 133,336.73                       122,919.28                       

Contract Facility Charge 2,081,054.27                    1,498,660.79                    

Total Restricted: 2,214,391.00                    1,621,580.07                    

Unrestricted 22,275,497.56                  46,640,852.35                  

TOTAL NET POSITION 221,323,942.80             213,597,186.59             

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

PROFIT and LOSS STATEMENT

November 30, 2015 November 30, 2015

Actual Budget Actual - Budget % Change

INCOME

Landing Area:

Landing Fees 1,040,217.60                     997,715.80                        42,501.80                     4.26% (a)

Aircraft Parking Fees 155,702.86                        140,301.90                        15,400.96                     10.98%

FBO Into-Plane & Fuel Flowage 51,059.27                          47,030.70                         4,028.57                      8.57%

Subtotal Landing Area 1,246,979.73                     1,185,048.40                     61,931.33                     5.23%

Space & Ground Rentals 3,631,515.59                     3,592,615.70                     38,899.89                     1.08% (b)

Auto Parking 4,158,028.60                     3,711,998.85                     446,029.75                   12.02% (c)

Commercial Ground Transportation 61,110.30                          62,083.35                         (973.05)                        -1.57%

Concessions:

Advertising 170,417.50                        104,166.65                        66,250.85                     63.60% (d)

Food & Beverage 143,599.30                        150,000.00                        (6,400.70)                     -4.27%

Rental Car 1,382,909.70                     1,272,858.95                     110,050.75                   8.65% (e)

Retail 212,265.07                        155,833.35                        56,431.72                     36.21% (f)

Subtotal Concessions 1,909,191.57                     1,682,858.95                     226,332.62                   13.45%

Expense Reimbursements 517,075.91                        508,881.25                        8,194.66                      1.61%

Other Income 439,522.34                        615,947.30                        (176,424.96)                  -28.64% (g)

Total Operating Income 11,963,424.04                  11,359,433.80                 603,990.24                  5.32%

EXPENSES
Salary & Benefits 2,820,791.68                     3,340,159.95                     (519,368.27)                  -15.55% (h)

Professional Services 164,853.02                        313,876.65                        (149,023.63)                  -47.48% (i)

Promotional Activities 307,891.78                        384,841.75                        (76,949.97)                   -20.00% (j)

Administrative 344,549.05                        414,178.45                        (69,629.40)                   -16.81% (k)

Insurance 172,708.30                        172,708.30                        -                              0.00%

Contractual Services 777,510.91                        1,025,206.05                     (247,695.14)                  -24.16% (l)

Rentals & Leases 11,794.94                          25,374.20                         (13,579.26)                   -53.52%

Repairs & Maintenance 278,712.64                        209,659.60                        69,053.04                     32.94% (m)

Supplies & Equipment 179,123.30                        319,054.45                        (139,931.15)                  -43.86% (n)

Utilit ies 522,511.76                        596,404.75                        (73,892.99)                   -12.39% (o)

Total Operating Expenses 5,580,447.38                    6,801,464.15                    (1,221,016.77)             -17.95%

NET OPERATING INCOME 6,382,976.66        4,557,969.65        1,825,007.01    40.04%
-                                   -                                   

<---------------------------  FISCAL YEAR TO DATE  -------------------------------->

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

REVENUES AND EXPENSES TREND GRAPHS

$1.3

$1.5

$1.7

$1.9

$2.1

$2.3

$2.5

$2.7

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
il

li
o

n
s 

CY Historical Operating Revenues 
(by Month by Year) 

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
il

li
o

n
s 

CY Historical Operating Expenses 
(by Month by Year) 

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



November 30, 2015

(a) Landing Fees OVER BUDGET $42,501.80  - Actual passenger airline landed weights are higher than budgeted landed weights

(b) Space & Ground Rentals OVER BUDGET $38,899.89  - MSE space rent more than budgeted 24K YTD

 - UPS 23K (or 4.5K/mo) budgeted for North Cargo for FY2016 which has not taken place

 - Per Turn more than budgeted 43K YTD

(c) Auto Parking OVER BUDGET $446,029.75  - Conservative budgeting

(d) Advertising OVER BUDGET $66,250.85  - Conservative budgeting & aggressive marketing of spots

(e) Rental Car OVER BUDGET $110,050.75  - Conservative budgeting

(f) Retail OVER BUDGET $56,431.72  - Conservative budgeting

(g) Other Income UNDER BUDGET $176,424.96  - Ground handling (charter) 103K under budget YTD

 - Ground handling (non-tenant) 13K under budget YTD

 - ID Cards/Fingerprinting 14K over budget YTD

 - Parking Tickets/Seized Funds 12K over budget YTD

 - Lease Income (Runion) 21K over budget YTD

 - Centralized Distribution facility 125K under budget YTD as facility is not yet complete

 - "Gov deals" sales not budgeted 19K YTD

 - Less activity in Cargo Ops than budgeted 30K

(h) Salary & Benefits UNDER BUDGET $519,368.27  - Turnover, military leaves and new positions not filled resulted

   in lower salaries and the corresponding benefits

(i) Professional Services UNDER BUDGET $149,023.63  - Personal rapid transit consulting 63K under budget YTD

 - Intervistas Consulting Regional Air Service Alliance 21K under budget YTD

 - Trillion Aviation FBO consulting 18K over budget YTD

 - Campbell-Hill Aviation Leakage analysis 11.5K over budget YTD

 - ICF Strategic planning 12K under budget TYD

 - Lexvolo passenger development research 10K under budget YTD

 - Art Consulting 10K as these amounts are being capitalized with the project

 - Legal 11.5K under budget YTD

(j) Promotional Activities UNDER BUDGET $76,949.97  - Advertising expense 33K under budget YTD

 - Special Events expenses 50K under budget YTD

 - General marketing expenses 20K under budget YTD

 - Sponsorships expenses 27K over budget YTD

YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



November 30, 2015 YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES

(k) Administrative UNDER BUDGET $69,629.40  - Travel/Training 61K under budget TYD

 - Dues & Subscriptions 40K under budget YTD

 - Corporate Function 24K over budget YTD

(l) Contractual Services UNDER BUDGET $247,695.14  - Timing: Many of our expenses paid in July (computer 19K & janitorial 63K) 

   were booked back to June for year-end purposes.

 - 125K Centralized Distribution facility expenses not yet incurred

   as facility is not yet complete

 - Nursery & Landscaping 18K under budget YTD 

 - Elevator & Escalator 54K over budget YTD

(m) Repairs & Maintenance OVER BUDGET $69,053.04  - Projects-Unanticipated 24K over budget YTD

 - Building 13K over budget YTD

 - Heating & Air 12K over budget YTD

(n) Supplies & Equipment UNDER BUDGET $139,931.15  - Timing: Many of our expenses paid in July were booked back to 

   June for year-end purposes.

 - Computer-Equip/Supplies 61K under budget YTD

 - Computer-Software 8K under budget YTD

 - Lamps 9K under budget YTD

 - Office Supplies 7K under budget YTD

 - Nursery & Landscaping 18K under budget YTD

 - Fuel for vehicles 7K under budget

 - Snow Removal 8K under budget YTD

 - Tires 8K under budget YTD

(o) Utilities UNDER BUDGET $73,892.99  - Gas 74K under budget YTD, gas primarily used in Winter

Note: Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents

Five months of activity, resulting in variances which can be quite volatile.

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



Issue Maturity Interest Cost Basis or EOM FMV

Date Date Rate BOY FMV Par FMV Adj

US Treasury

UST T-Bill  4-wk 11/5/2015 12/3/2015 0.071% 4,999,727.80             5,000,000.00             4,999,727.80             -                 

11/5/2015 12/3/2015 0.071% 4,999,727.80             5,000,000.00             4,999,727.80             -                 

11/12/2015 12/10/2015 0.076% 4,999,708.35             5,000,000.00             4,999,708.35             -                 

11/12/2015 12/10/2015 0.076% 4,999,708.35             5,000,000.00             4,999,708.35             -                 

11/27/2015 12/24/2015 0.122% 4,999,550.00             5,000,000.00             4,999,550.00             -                 

-                 

-                           -                 

FRNs 1/31/2014 1/31/2016 0.045% 4,998,950.00             5,000,000.00             4,998,950.00             -                 

Subtotal-UST 29,997,372.30        30,000,000.00        29,997,372.30$      -                 

Issue Cost Cumulative

Date Basis Yield Balance

NBSC:

UST T-Bill 7/24/2014 5/31/2016 1,263,000.00             1,263,000.00             

10/6/2015 186,831.57                

Subtotal-UST 1,449,831.57$        

31,447,203.87$      Total

Weighted blended yield 

=  
0.0768%

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District
November 30, 2015

US Treasury Investment Types T-Bill T-Note T-Bond Fed Ag

  Negotiable Debt Obligation Yes Yes Yes Yes

  Backed by Gov Full Faith/Credit Yes Yes Yes No

  Maturity < 1 yr 1-7 yrs 7+ yrs 1-5 yrs

  Coupon-Bearing No Yes Yes Yes

  Interest is paid at Maturity Semi-Ann Semi-Ann Semi-Ann

  State & Local Tax Exemption Yes Yes Yes Only FHLB (*)

   (*) Note: Since GSP is a political subdivision of SC, w e are tax-exempt from all taxes, including state and local.

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

Terminal Improvement Project

cash basis cash basis cash basis
through: 11/30/2015

FYE YTD FYE YTD FYE YTD FYE YTD FYE

Budgeted 6/30/2012 6/30/2013 6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 Total

Skanska 9,570,188$        35,931,932$       22,815,954$       15,271,006$       83,589,080$       

RS&H 2,916,235$        2,650,023$        5,566,258$        

Baker (aka LPA) 1,367,784$        2,742,449$        765,298$           538,124$           5,413,656$        

Jacobs 961,516$           885,315$           942,348$           394,840$           3,184,019$        

Air-Transport IT Services 424,339$           424,339$           

RJ Design 65,350$             220,050$           285,400$           

At&t 205,594$           205,594$           

A3 Communications 170,341$           170,341$           

Warco Construction 145,862$           145,862$           

G2 Secure Staff 8,508$               85,979$             31,889$             126,376$           

CDW Government 1,911$               62,649$             3,062$               67,622$             

Michael M. Simpson 49,696$             9,957$               59,653$             

Phoenix Mechanical 62,000$             62,000$             

Parsons Brincke 50,000$             50,000$             

Project Link 42,509$             27,799$             70,307$             

McGriff 32,890$             51,436$             84,326$             

Tidewater Lumber 30,434$             1,908$               918$                 33,260$             

I -SYS 31,277$             31,277$             

TPM 29,212$             29,212$             

Duke Energy 22,088$             22,088$             

Source Group 21,196$             21,196$             

Other 400$                 57,128$             64,692$             87,935$             3,861$               214,016$           

Total 123,762,496$     3,878,151$        14,786,745$       40,535,386$       24,696,747$       15,958,853$       99,855,881$       

Cumulative $ Spent 3,878,151$        18,664,896$       59,200,282$       83,897,029$       99,855,882$       

%  of Budget spent 3.13% 15.08% 47.83% 67.79% 80.68% 80.68%

Construction 9,635,538$        35,934,969$       22,953,017$       15,420,729$       83,944,253$       

Professional 3,877,751$        5,002,818$        3,667,600$        993,082$           538,124$           14,079,374$       

Owners Reserve 400$                 148,389$           932,817$           750,649$           1,832,254$        

Total -$                  3,878,151$        14,786,745$       40,535,385$       24,696,747$       15,958,853$       99,855,882$       

Cumulative $ Spent 3,878,151$        18,664,896$       59,200,281$       83,897,028$       99,855,882$       

0$                     0$                     0$                     (0)$                   0$                     (1)$                   

through: 11/30/2015
FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE

Budgeted 6/30/2012 6/30/2013 6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 Total

Crawford Strategies 261,000$           10,900               61,157               75,948               76,776               27,250               252,031             

Launch Something 279,730$           25,870               90,133               23,045               20,604               159,652             

Total 540,730$           36,770               151,290             98,993               97,379               27,250               411,683             

Cumulative $ Spent 36,770$             188,060$           287,053$           384,433$           411,683$           

%  of Budget spent 6.80% 34.78% 53.09% 71.10% 76.13% 76.13%

TIP Public Relations Expenses

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

Other Operating and Maintenance Reserve Funds

FY $ Amount $ Amount

Authorized Date Used YTD
Emergency Repair/Replacement/Operations Fund 750,000$              

8/4/2015 1,371$              Crossroads Environmental LLC - Perform Asbestos inspection of US Air Ops Area

8/4/2015 11,192$            Harris Integrated Solutions - Chiller

10/5/2015 5,400$              Schneider Treecare - Debris removal/ trees

17,963$            

732,037$        Remaining Reserve

Business Development Obligations/Incentives 600,000$              

-$                  

600,000$        Remaining Reserve

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



Procurement / Capital Acquisitions

Project/Item Description Date

Monthly $ 

Amount

Capital Improvements:
Avcon, Inc. /  Apron Rehab 11/6/2015 19,264              

GLF /  Apron Rehab 11/20/2015 214,275             

WK Dickson /  Taxiway G Rehab 11/20/2015 15,782              

Equipment and Small Capital Outlays:
Evelyn Rosenberg/  Terminal art 11/4/2015 12,720              

Renewals and Replacements:
Clayton Construstion Co /  S Cargo Project 11/20/2015 114,963             

Professional Service Projects:
WK Dickson /  Landscape Master Plan 11/20/2015 11,937              

Total Procurements/Capital Additions for the month 388,941$        

November, 2015



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Kevin Howell, Vice President/COO 

 

DATE: January 11, 2016 

____________________________________________________________ 
 
I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem C 
 
December 2015 – Development/Project Status Report 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Terminal I mprovement Program (TI P) : 
 

Status – Project wrap-up continues on the Enabling Package and Bag Claim/South 

Bridge Packages. The Core Phase construction is currently underway. 

Project Budget  – $125,000,000.00 

Estimated Completion Date – October 2016 

 

Enabling:  

 

SKM continues to work on several completion items from the Enabling Phase.  The 

contractor also continues to work on Enabling punch list work and closeout 

simultaneously.  On September 15, 2015, SKM requested the Owner complete the 

punch list inspections for specific remaining areas of work.  The Owner and CA Services 

Team completed these inspections and provided the punch list reports to SKM.  Some 

areas were not complete and not ready for inspection.  SKM is currently working on the 

identified items.  

 

Bag Claim /  South Bridge: 

 

The Bag Claim/South Bridge Phase continues to progress towards completion as SKM 

attempts to wrap up several completion and punch list items simultaneously. On 

September 15, 2015, SKM requested the Owner complete the punch list inspections for 

specific remaining areas of work.  The Owner and CA Services Team completed these 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

December 2015 – Project Status/Update  

Page 2 

 

inspections and provided the punch list reports to SKM. Some areas were not complete 

and not ready for inspection. SKM is currently working on the identified items.  

 

Core & Concourse: 

 

During the month of December, in the Grand Hall the curtain wall was started and the 

escalators were installed.  On the Level 1, the ticketing back wall and airline ticket office 

(ATO) spaces are beginning to wrap up.  On the Concourses, floor leveling was started 

on the B Concourse.  

 

Apron Rehabilitation Project Phase 2: 
 

Status – Construction Phase 

Project Budget – $5,800,000  

Estimated Completion Date – schedule to be updated (WX) 

 

The Apron Rehabilitation Project Phase 2 includes the Year 2 recommended items 

outlined in the 2012 LPA Apron Pavement Study.  Year 2 priority items included 

rehabilitation of the B concourse concrete apron surfaces from the building to the new 

trench drain (Apron Rehab Phase 1) and from the new trench drain to the apron taxi 

lane.  

 

Project engineering is led by AVCON, Inc., one of the District’s on-call consultants.  GLF 

Construction is the contractor for the project.  Contract time for this project is 275 

calendar days. Phase 1 of the project (Gate B-1) is underway.  The project has had 

significant weather impacts during the last 3 months.  The project schedule will be 

revisited at the next project meeting. 

 
Airfield Signage Replacement Project: 
 

Status - Close out Phase 

Project Budget  - $400,000.00 

Estimated Completion Date – December 2016 

 

The Airfield Signage Replacement Project includes the replacement of all airfield, 

taxiway and runway signage.  Engineering is being led by GSP on-call consultant 

Michael Baker International (Baker).  Cedar Peaks is the electrical contractor for the 

project. Signage replacement is ongoing.  This project is substantially complete.  The 

only outstanding items are some minor punch list items, and close out documents.  A 

final close out report will be provided in January. 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

December 2015 – Project Status/Update  

Page 3 

 

 

Taxiway G Rehabilitation Project: 
 

Status – Close out Phase 

Project Budget  - $1,100,000 

Estimated Completion Date – December 2015 

 

The TW G Rehab Project involves the milling and replacement of the TW G asphalt 

pavement.  WK Dickson is handling the engineering portion of this project.  Sloan 

Construction is the contractor.  This project is substantially complete.  The only 

outstanding items are some close out documents.  A final close out report will be 

provided in January. 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Rosylin Weston, Vice President - Communications 

 

DATE: January 11, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem D 
 
December 2015 – Communications Report 

 

News Stories Broadcast, Print and Online: 
• Spartanburg Herald-Journal – GSP offering flights for Clemson fans heading to 

Orange Bowl  

• The Greenville News – American offering special flight for Clemson playoff game  

• GSA Business - Special flight to Miami scheduled at GSP for Clemson bowl game 

• WYFF (Channel 4) – Special flight offered to take Clemson fans to Orange Bowl 

• WSPA (Channel 7) – Plane Makes Emergency Landing At GSP Airport  

• Daily Journal (Greenwood) – Plane makes emergency landing Wednesday at 

Greenville Spartanburg International Airport  

• WYFF (Channel 4) – Jet lands at GSP after 'declared emergency' 

• Live 5 News (Charleston) – GSP official:  76 uninjured in plane's emergency 

landing  

• WSPA (Channel 7) – Plane Forced To Land At GSP After Reported Engine 

Problem  

• Anderson Independent Mail – Plane forced to land at GSP Airport  

• GSA Business – Automated transportation system still being considered  

• GSA Business – Construction won't impact holiday travel  

• Bluffton Today – Greenville-Spartanburg Airport loses power on Christmas Eve  

• WSPA (Channel 7) – GSP Power Back On  

• The Greenville News – Power restored to Greenville-Spartanburg Airport  

• Anderson Independent Mail – GSP Airport experiencing power outage 

• Upstate Business Journal – GSP reports 3-year monthly passenger record for 

October, November 

• Greer Today – GSP sets all-time passenger records for October, November  

• WYFF (Channel 4) – Christmas travel in full swing at GSP Airport  
• WYFF (Channel 4) – Delays put damper on holiday travel  



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem D 

December 2015 - Communications Report 

Page 2 

  

• WYFF (Channel 4) – Clemson Tigers arrive back in SC after Orange Bowl win  

 

Online Statistics 12/ 01/ 15 – 12/ 31/ 15:  
 
Elevatingtheupstate.com 

• 228 Sessions, 76%  New Visitors 

• Average visit duration on the renovation website was 01:13 minutes 

• Most visitors were referred by the banner link on the GSP website homepage 

 

Elevatingtheupstate.com (Mobile Site)  
• 334 Sessions, 94%  New Visitors 

• Average duration on the renovation website was 00:22 Minutes 

• Most visitors arrived directly from searching for elevatingtheupstate.com 

 
WI NGSPAN blog  

• 816 Sessions, 70%  were new visitors  

• 1,211 pages were viewed by visitors to the blog 

• There was one large spike and several smaller spikes in views this month.  The 

largest spike was the Construction Update: We’re making progress post 

 

GSPAirport.com   
• 102,124 Sessions, 75%  were new visitors  

• Average page view per visit was 3.46 Pages 

• Average duration on the GSP website was 01:32 minutes 

• There were 38,091 visits to the mobile website 

 
Facebook  

• 320 new “Likes” 

• 1,109,019 people have seen content associated with the GSP Page.  This is 

referred to as “Reach”. 

 
 
Customer Service Complaints – Summary 

• Waited too long for bags to arrive in baggage claim – The offending airline 

American.  In some instances, the waits exceed 30 minutes. 

• American appears to routinely cancel the last evening flight from Charlotte.  

Customers are given a variety of reasons from GSP is closed, to weather to crew 

time to mechanical issues.  The customer is rarely offered any type of 

compensation. 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem D 

December 2015 - Communications Report 

Page 3 

  

• Not enough staff on duty to attend to the needs of their customers.  Including 

addressing lost or missing bags and in some instances, passengers have waited 

to deplane because agents were unavailable to assist in parking the aircraft. 

(American) 

 
Happy Or Not 12/ 01/ 15 – 12/ 31/ 15 

The Happy Or Not meters were strategically placed in the ladies restrooms on 

Concourses A&B - passengers were asked, “Did the cleanliness of this bathroom meet 

your expectations?” The customer was provided with 4 response options, Very Happy, 

Happy, Not Happy, and Very Unhappy.  There were a total of 7,116 responses and of 

those: 

 
 

Very Happy    5,654 

Happy        982 

Unhappy       220 

Very Unhappy              260 

Total Responses  7,116 
 

 
Thanks Again 12/ 01/ 15 – 12/ 31/ 15 
Thanks Again is the GSP Customer Loyalty Program that allows customers to receive 

airline miles from participating airlines each time they make a credit/debit card 

purchase from a participating Thanks Again merchant.  All of the GSP Airport 

concessionaires’ are designated Thanks Again merchants. 

 

Total Transactions   299 

 

Total Dollar Transactions    $6,891.94 

 
 
 
 
 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Properties 

 

DATE: January 11, 2016 

 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem E 
 
December 2015 – Properties and Development Report 

 

 
SUMMARY 
 
Cargo Modernization Project – Phase # 1: 
 

Status –  Currently working on completion of all construction documents. 

Project Budget – $1,300,000                
Estimated Completion Date – November 30, 2016 

 

The Airport District is designing a shared use cargo facility.  The facility is being 

designed to allow for long term flexible use and expandability in the future as demand 

warrants for UPS and other cargo tenants.    

 

In addition, the project consists of relocating UPS from the south cargo building and 

ramp to the north cargo ramp and constructing new facilities.  The new leasehold area 

will be sized to handle up to two Boeing 767-300 aircraft simultaneously, loading and 

unloading of up to eight 53 foot tractor trailer trucks, and new administrative office and 

support space. 

 
 
 
Concessions Program Development – Grand Hall Phase: 
 
Status –  Currently working with both Hudson and MSE to finalize the plans for their 

respective food, beverage, and retail programs. 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section - I tem E 

December 2015 – Properties and Development Report 

Page 2 

  

Project Budget – All facility costs are included in the overall $125,000,000 TIP and all 

tenant fit out costs are being covered by Hudson News Group & MSE Branded Foods. 

Estimated Completion Date – September 30, 2016 

 

As part of the Grand Hall, there will be several new food, beverage, and retail offerings 

available to the traveling public. These include at a minimum Baskin Robbins, Dunkin 

Donuts, Chick-fil-A, Tech on the Go, as well as a sit down restaurant and retail store 

that have yet to be named. 

 
 
 
Sprint Wireless – Cell Phone Antenna Equipment Upgrade & Capacity 
Enhancement Project: 
 

Status –  New cabling and telecommunication equipment is in place.  Utility permit is 

presently under review by Sprint Wireless. 

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Sprint Wireless. 

Estimated Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

Sprint Wireless is in the process of upgrading the existing antenna equipment located 

on top of Parking Garage A.  The project also includes an increase in network capacity 

to handle increased call volume in the area and reduce the number of dropped and 

failed calls.    

 

The project requires that a new fiber optics line be installed by Spirit Telecom.  This 

new line will begin at the intersection of State Route 14 and GSP Drive and run along 

GSP Drive up to Parking Garage A.  

 
 
 
National Weather Service /  AT&T Fiber I nstallation Project: 
 
Status –  Utility permit is presently under review by AT&T. 

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by AT&T. 

Estimated Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

The National Weather Service is in the process of upgrading its equipment and needs 

additional high speed data capacity.  AT&T is proposing to provide this additional data 

capacity via the installation of a new fiber optics line. 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section - I tem E 

December 2015 – Properties and Development Report 

Page 3 

  

This new line is proposed to begin at the intersection of State Route 14 and GSP Drive 

and run along GSP Drive up to an existing communications manhole located at the 

Airport Facility Department.  Along GSP Drive, the fiber optics line would branch off at 

proposed manhole that would be installed adjacent to the National Weather Service to 

provide the required connectivity to their leasehold.  

 

 

 

FedEx – AT&T Network Based I P/ VPN Remote Access (ANI RA)  I nstallation 
Project: 
 

Status –  Awaiting plans and specifications for review.  

Project Budget – All costs covered by FedEx. 

Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

FedEx is requesting to install a backup cellular system for their local data network to 

provide redundancy in the event their wired data connection is interrupted.  This project 

will be engineered and installed on behalf of FedEx by AT&T. 

 

 

 

FedEx – Customer Service Lobby Renovation & Exterior Signage Replacement 
Project: 
 

Status –  Construction document comments submitted to FedEx consultant for 

incorporation into the drawings. 

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by FedEx. 

Estimated Completion Date – May 31, 2016 

 

FedEx is proposing to completely renovate its customer service lobby with new 

millwork, carpeting, wall coverings, branding, etc.   In addition, it is planning to replace 

the exterior building signage with its updated branding.   

 

 

 

Uber – Transportation Network Company Agreement: 
 

Status –  Final agreement is in the process of being executed. 

Project Budget – No Associated Project Costs 

Completion Date – January 15, 2016 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section - I tem E 

December 2015 – Properties and Development Report 

Page 4 

  

 

The Airport District is presently working with Uber as the first Transportation Network 

Company to provide service to Airport District property.  The agreement once finalized 

will generate additional revenue for the Airport District, while providing our mutual 

customers with another ground transportation option to and from the Airport. 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Marsha Madore, Human Resources Manager 

 

DATE: January 11, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem F 
 
December 2015 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 

Monthly Activity as of December 31, 2015  

 

• No OSHA Reportable Injuries  

 

2015 Calendar Year-to-Date  

 

• 3 OSHA Reportable Injuries 

 

2 Year Historical Annual OSHA Report Submissions: 

 
 
 

Calendar 
Year 

 
 

Annual 
Average #  
Employees 

 
Total Hours 
Worked by 

all 
Employees 

#  OSHA 
Reportable 

Work 
Related 
I njuries 

#  OSHA 
Reportable 

Work 
Related 

I llnesses 

 
 

#  Days 
away from 

Work 

2014 124 233,977 6 0 81 

2013 121 188,147 5 0 3 

 






























	January 2016 Commission Information Packet
	Commission Meeting Minutes 2015_11_20
	Presentation Item A - Business Development & Marketing Update - 011116
	Info Section A - Traffic Report 20160111
	November 2015 Traffic Stats
	1 GSP Monthly Traffic Report
	GSP Monthly Traffic Report

	2 Airline Enp-Seat-LF - Report
	Airline Enp-Seat-LF - Report

	3 Enp by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Enp by Year by Month - Bar Chart

	4 Seats by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Seats by Year by Month - Bar Chart

	5 LF by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	LF by Year by Month - Bar Chart

	6 Total Pax by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Total Pax by Year by Month - Bar Chart

	7 Airline Market Share - Pie Chart
	Airline Market Share - Pie Chart

	8 Airline Completion - Report
	Airline Completion - Report


	Info Section B - November Financials  20151221
	Info Section B - Nov Financials 20151221
	Item C  - January 2016
	Info Section D - Communications Report 20160104
	Info Section E - Properties and Development Report - 011116
	Commission Info Section F - Dec OSHA Reportable Events  010416

	Jan Rpt Articles

